1960

# Salt Lake City v. State Tax Commission of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was commenced in the District Court of the Third Judicial District in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, for a declaratory judgment as to the constitutionality of Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, relating to the withholding of state income taxes from wages paid to employees by employers.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 12, 1959, Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, being entitled "An Act \* \* \* Providing for the Deduction and Withholding of Individual Income Tax from Wages Paid by Employers to *Resident* Employees, and Providing for the *Reimbursement* of Expenses in Inaugurating and Administering the Withholding Provisions of This Act" became a law amending Section 59-14-71, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended by Chapter 124 of the Laws of Utah, 1955. (Paragraph 3 of appellant's complaint as admitted by paragraph 3 of respondent's Answer, R. 1-4, 9). (Emphasis added above). The appellant is a municipal corporation of the State of Utah and, as such, is an "employer" paying "wages" to "employees" within the purview of said act, and is subject to the requirements contained therein. (Paragraphs 2 and 4 of appellant's complaint as admitted by paragraphs 2 and 4 of respondent's Answer, R. 1, 4, 9). Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, does not provide for "reimbursement" to "employers" of expenses in inaugurating and administering the withholding provisions of said act. (Paragraph 5 of appellant's complaint as admitted by paragraph 5 of respondent's Answer, R. 4, 9). The defendant is charged with the enforcement and administration of Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959. (Paragraph 7 of respondent's answer, R. 4, 9).

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

CHAPTER 111 OF THE LAWS OF UTAH, 1959, VIOLATES ARTICLE VI, SECTION 23 OF THE CONSTITU-

TION OF THE STATE OF UTAH IN THAT THE SUBJECT MATTER OF SAID ACT IS NOT CLEARLY EXPRESSED IN THE TITLE THEREOF.

## POINT II

THE REQUIREMENTS IMPOSED UPON THE APPELLANT AS AN "EMPLOYER" UNDER CHAPTER 111 OF THE LAWS OF UTAH, 1959, TO COLLECT AND REMIT STATE INCOME TAXES TO THE RESPONDENT WITHOUT COMPENSATION FOR ITS SERVICES CONSTITUTES AN UNLAWFUL TAKING OF PROPERTY WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND INVOLUNTARY SERVITUDE.

## POINT III

CHAPTER 111 OF THE LAWS OF UTAH, 1959, VIOLATES ARTICLE VI, SECTION 22, OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH FOR ITS FAILURE TO SET FORTH THE STATUTE IT AMENDS AT LENGTH.

## POINT IV

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS.

## POINT V

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS TO APPELLANT.



## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

CHAPTER 111 OF THE LAWS OF UTAH, 1959, VIOLATES ARTICLE VI, SECTION 23 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH IN THAT THE SUBJECT MATTER OF SAID ACT IS NOT CLEARLY EXPRESSED IN THE TITLE THEREOF.

Article VI, Section 23 of the Utah Constitution provides as follows:

“Except general appropriation bills, and bills for the codification and general revision of laws, no bill shall be passed containing more than one subject, *which shall be clearly expressed in its title.*” (Emphasis added).

The title of Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, sets forth the subject matter of the act and states, among other things, that the act provides “for the Reimbursement of Expenses in Inaugurating and Administering the Withholding Provisions of This Act.” Respondent admits that the act does not provide for “reimbursement” to “employers” of expenses in inaugurating and administering the withholding provisions of the act. In fact the body of the act does not provide “reimbursement” to anyone for sums expended in effecting the withholding provisions of the act.

Respondent argues that the term “reimbursement” as used in the title of the subject act necessarily refers to the expenses incurred by it in carrying out the program of the withholding tax provided by the statute. The fallacy in this argument lies in its failure to recognize the basic difference between the terms

"reimbursement" and "appropriation." The only reference to expenses involved in the administration of the withholding provisions of Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, is contained in Section(5) of the act which reads as follows:

"(5) For the necessary expenses of administering the withholding provisions of this act to June 30, 1961, including the use of necessary tabulating devices and cards, auditing and clerical services, forms, stationery, stamps and printing, *there is appropriated* from the Uniform Schol Fund to the tax commission, the sum of \$125,000.00 and to the finance commission the sum of \$60,000.00." (Emphasis added).

There can be no question that the Legislature intended the above section of the act *to appropriate funds* to the various state departments charged with the enforcement of the act *after* its effective date, i.e., May 12, 1959. Thus the body of the act clearly contemplated an "appropriation" for future expenses, not a "reimbursement" for past expenses incurred in inaugurating and administering the withholding provisions of the act. Indeed, the respondent was without authority to effectuate the provisions of such act until it had become law upon the aforementioned date, and upon that date the Legislature provided the respondent with the necessary funds for anticipated future expenses in carrying out the purposes of the act. It is too clear for argument that Section 5 of the act here involved constituted an "appropriation" only for the necessary expense of administering the act from its effective date to June 30, 1961. The absence of any provision for "reimbursement" to employers for their expenses involved in inaugurating and administering the withholding provisions of the act renders it fatally defective.

It has been held in many cases that the primary meaning of the verb "reimburse" is to pay back; to make return or restoration of an equivalent for something paid, expended, or lost; to indemnify; to make whole. *Woerz v. Schumaker*, 161 N.Y. 530, 56 N.E. 72; *Perkins v. Brown*, 179 Wash. 597, 38 P.2d 253, 101 A.L.R. 275; See *Words and Phrases, Permanent Edition* for additional cases so holding. Likewise the noun "reimbursement" has been held to mean pay back, to make restoration, to repay that expended. *Los Angeles County v. Frisbie*, 19 Cal.2d 634, 122 P.2d 526. And it has been held that "reimbursement" presupposes previous payment. *Solimine v. Hollander*, 129 N.J. Eq. 264, 19 A.2d 344, 348. See *Words and Phrases, Permanent Edition*, for other cases similarly defining "reimbursement."

On the other hand the cases clearly define an "appropriation" as the setting apart from the public revenue of a certain sum of money for a specified object, in such a manner that the executive officers of the government are authorized to use that money, and no more, for that object, and for no other. *Hunt v. Callaghan*, 32 Ariz. 235, 257 P. 648; *State ex rel. Murray v. Carter*, 167 Okla. 473, 30 P.2d 700; *Grable v. Blackwood*, 180 Ark. 311, 22 S.W.2d 41; See *Words and Phrases, Permanent Edition*, for additional cases. It has also been held that there is a distinction between an "appropriation" and the making of "expenditures"—the latter being the act of expending, a laying out of money, or a disbursement, while the former means to set apart for, or assign to a particular person or use in exclusion of all others. *Suppiger v. Enking*, 60 Idaho 292, 91 P.2d 362.

Applying the rule that the ordinary meaning and under-

standing of a word will be employed in construing statutes, it is clear that the legislature contemplated some form of refund or repayment for prior expenditures incurred in connection with the collection of income taxes withheld from wages by reason of its use of the term "reimbursement" in the title of the act. The only persons that could have been reasonably contemplated thereunder would be "employers" as defined in the body of the act inasmuch as they constituted the only class of persons under the act who were charged with affirmative duties necessitating the outlay of cash expenditures to effectuate the purposes of the act without provision for prior payment of such expenses. The expenses of the respondent and the State Finance Commission were adequately provided for *in advance* by a specific *appropriation* contained in the act. It necessarily follows, therefore, that the subject matter of Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, was not *clearly expressed in its title* as required by Article VI, Section 23 of the Utah Constitution for two reasons:

1. The body of the act does not provide for "reimbursement" to employers for their expenses in inaugurating and administering the withholding provisions contained therein.

2. The title of the act contains no reference to an "appropriation" to defray the future expenses of the State Tax Commission in inaugurating and administering the withholding provision of the act, and the inclusion of such an "appropriation" within the body of the act is inconsistent with the title thereof.

In the case of *Pass v. Kanell et al.*, 98 U. 511, 100 P.2d 972, this court held that the title to an act does not purport

to state the details, but it must be broad enough to include the subject of the legislation. In that case the majority opinion held the statute contained subject matter not clearly expressed in the title and stated as follows at page 975 of 100 P.2d:

“We fail to discover anything in the title ‘Registration of Motor Vehicles’ that would justify the inclusion of liability of owners of rent automobiles for negligence of the drivers of such rented automobiles.”

In view of the holding in the *Kanell* case, appellant is confident that this court will conclude that there is nothing in the term “reimbursement” as used in the title of Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, that would justify the inclusion of an “appropriation” to the respondent for its future expenses in carrying out assigned duties and obligations under the withholding provisions of said act.

In addition to the above objection to the title of Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, the attention of this court is directed to the limitation expressed in the title of said act to “Resident Employees.” An examination of the act itself, particularly Sections (1) (a) and (2) (b) thereof, reveals that the body of the act covers *all employees*, not just resident employees. The sections referred to above read as follows:

“(1) (a) Commencing July 1, 1959, every employer making payment of wages shall deduct and withhold from wages an amount equal to seven per cent of the total amount required to be deducted and withheld by an employer from wages of an employee under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of the United States. The amount of tax withheld shall be computed

without regard to any other amount required to be withheld thereunder.”

“(2) (b) The term ‘employee’ means and includes every individual performing services for an employer, either within or without, or both within and without the State of Utah, the performances of which services constitutes, establishes and determines the relationship between the parties as that of employer and employee, and includes officers of corporations, individuals, including elected officials, performing services for the United States Government or any agency or instrumentality thereof, or the state of Utah or any county, city, municipality or political subdivision thereof.”

This is a classic example of the failure of the title of an act to clearly express the subject matter of the act itself. The accepted, and indeed the required, practice in drafting legislation is to use language in titles which is broad enough to cover the subject of the legislation, not to resort to language which is more limited in scope than the body of the act. See *Pass v. Kanell*, supra. Appellant would further point out that, even if such act itself was only applicable to withholding of income taxes from *resident employees*, it would fail for the reason that such a classification would unconstitutionally discriminate against resident employees. There can be no doubt that the use of the term “Resident Employees” in the title of this act was the result of mistake or carelessness on the part of those responsible for drafting the bill. Such mistake or carelessness, however, cannot be the basis for breathing life into an invalid act.

For the reasons above stated, Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, fails to meet the requirements of Article VI, Section 23 of the Utah Constitution.

## POINT II

THE REQUIREMENTS IMPOSED UPON THE APPELLANT AS AN "EMPLOYER" UNDER CHAPTER 111 OF THE LAWS OF UTAH, 1959, TO COLLECT AND REMIT STATE INCOME TAXES TO THE RESPONDENT WITHOUT COMPENSATION FOR ITS SERVICES CONSTITUTES AN UNLAWFUL TAKING OF PROPERTY WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND INVOLUNTARY SERVITUDE.

To enforce collection of a tax imposed under an invalid law is to take the property of the taxpayer without due process of law. *J. & A. Freiberg Co. v. Dawson*, D.C. Ky., 274 F. 420, affirmed in *Dawson v. Kentucky Distilleries & Warehouse Co.*, 41 S. Ct. 272, 255 U.S. 288, 65 L.Ed. 638. It would therefore follow that the enforced collection of state income taxes by employers under the requirements of Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, would likewise constitute the taking of such employers' property without due process of law contrary to the provisions of the state or federal constitutions if such statute is invalid for any of the reasons asserted under Points I and III herein.

Furthermore, the Supreme Court of the United States, in the leading case of *Brushaber v. Union Pacific Railroad Company*, 240 U.S. 1, 60 L.Ed. 493, decided in 1915, although holding that the due process clause of the 5th Amendment to the Federal Constitution is not a limitation upon the taxing power conferred upon Congress by the Constitution and that the duty cast upon corporations to collect an income tax and absorb the cost to which they are thereby subjected is not

repugnant to due process of law as a taking of property without compensation, also placed a limitation upon that ruling by stating, at page 504 of 60 L.Ed.:

“And no change in the situation here would arise even if it be conceded, as we think it must be, *that this doctrine would have no application in a case where, although there was a seeming exercise of the taxing power, the act complained of was so arbitrary as to constrain to the conclusion that it was not the exertion of taxation, but a confiscation of property; that is, a taking of the same in violation of the 5th Amendment; \* \* \*.*” (Emphasis added).

In view of the increased complexities of income tax withholding requirements and the extension of such withholding provisions to cover virtually all wages paid by employers, rather than a few isolated cases, it would appear that the time has arrived for a re-evaluation of the confiscatory nature of such tax programs. It is a matter of common knowledge that the costs incidental to the employment of wage earners in the form of frequent accountings to the federal and state governments upon matters of such complexity as require the employment of specially trained personnel for that purpose is stifling the emergence of new small businesses which have served historically as the cornerstone of our free enterprise system. At the present time employers are being charged with the direct responsibility of accounting to various governmental agencies for a substantial portion of the wages paid to their employees and the administrative costs incidental thereto have steadily increased over the years without provision for compensation to such employers for their out of pocket expense in securing to government its vital nourishment. It is the



appellant's contention that the time is long overdue for our courts to reconsider the inequality of withholding taxes which places upon the employer the unequal burden of sustaining government and consequently results in the destruction of the most valuable irreplaceable natural resources of this country—human initiative and creativeness.

There is no concept more rooted in our constitutional form of government than that which prohibits the exaction of involuntary servitude. See *McGrew v. Industrial Comm.*, 96 U. 203, 85 P.2d 608. The imposition of costly requirements that employers collect and remit to government the fruits of taxation from the wages of their employees without compensation for such services clearly places the employer in a position of involuntary servitude. To hold otherwise, as some cases have done, places the convenience of tax collection for the government above the freedom of the individual. In addition employers are subjected to "double taxation" under such circumstances inasmuch as their ordinary tax burden is increased by their collection and remittance costs solely by reason of their classification as an employer. Thus such costs, which are not borne equally by the taxpaying public, become an additional tax burden upon employers incidental to the imposition of a completely separate tax upon incomes including that of employers.

For the reasons above stated the appellant, as an "employer" under the income tax withholding law enacted by Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, herewith submits that the enforcement of said Act by the respondent against the appellant is grossly unfair upon its face, deprives the appellant of its property without due process of law and subjects it to

a state of involuntary servitude. In this connection it is to be noted that the legislature has provided reimbursement to the respondent for its expenses in collecting and remitting local sales taxes to municipalities, including the appellant, under Section 11-9-7, U.C.A. 1953, as enacted by Chapter 114 of the Laws of Utah, 1959.

### POINT III

CHAPTER 111 OF THE LAWS OF UTAH, 1959, VIOLATES ARTICLE VI, SECTION 22, OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH FOR ITS FAILURE TO SET FORTH THE STATUTE IT AMENDS AT LENGTH.

Chapter 111 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, providing for withholding of income taxes on all incomes in Utah, was passed by the Legislature on March 12, 1959. Chapter 112 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, relating to the withholding of income taxes on non-resident employees, and providing for an exemption for employers who do business in Utah less than 60 days in a calendar year, was passed by the Legislature on February 25, 1959. Both acts, which were amendments to Section 59-14-71, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, became effective upon May 12, 1959.

The pertinent section of Article VI, Section 22, of the Utah Constitution provides as follows:

\* \* \* and no law shall be revised or amended by reference to its title only; but the act as revised, or section as amended, shall be re-enacted and published at length."

Section 59-14-71, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, presently consists of a composite section born of the changes included in both Chapters 111 and 112 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, in accordance with an Attorney General's opinion, No. 59029, dated March 26, 1959. However, the changes incorporated in the then existing law by the passage of Chapter 112 of the Laws of Utah, 1959, were not incorporated in Chapter 111 of said Laws which was enacted subsequent to said Chapter 112. The failure of the Legislature in enacting Chapter 111 to set forth the amendments previously incorporated in said Section 59-14-71 by the passage of Chapter 112 is clearly in violation of the above quoted constitutional provision.

In holding that the provisions of Article VI, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution are restrictive and mandatory requiring an amended or revised section or act to be complete within itself, so that when published as revised or amended it will contain *all the law* upon the subject embraced in the act or section, this court stated as follows in *State v. Beddo*, 22 U. 432, 63 P. 96, at page 97 of the Pacific Reporter:

"This is a wise provision of the constitution, and was intended to avoid that confusion which would inevitably follow if an act or section could be revised or amended by mere reference to the title or section or word or line as to which the change was intended to be made; for, after repeated amendments so made, the statute law would be rendered so ambiguous and imperfect, and in the course of time would require the examination of so many enactments to ascertain what statutes were in force, as to render any satisfactory determination or conclusion exceedingly difficult, if not impossible. Such revisions and amendments by

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