1960

Salt Lake City v. State Tax Commission of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE REQUIREMENTS IMPOSED UPON EMPLOYERS UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 111 OF THE LAWS OF UTAH 1959, REQUIRING THE COLLECTION AND REMISSION OF STATE INCOME TAXES TO THE STATE OF UTAH WITHOUT COMPENSATION IS NOT VIOLATIVE OF EITHER THE STATE OR FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

Appellant contends that since Chapter 111, Laws of Utah 1959 makes no provision to reimburse employers for the collection and withholding of taxes under the act that it violates due process of law and constitutes the imposition of an involuntary servitude. Appellant recognizes that the United States Supreme Court has held in *Brushaker v. Union Pacific Railroad Company*, 240 U. S. 1, 60 L. Ed. 493 (1915) that the appellant's arguments is without merit. Indeed, the court did, for it said:

“So far as the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment is relied upon, it suffices to say that there is no basis for such reliance since it is equally well settled that such clause is not a limitation upon the taxing power conferred upon Congress by the Constitution; in other words that the Constitution does not conflict with itself by conferring upon the one hand a taxing power and taking the same power away on the other by the limitation of the due process clause.”

Hence, the Court held that there was no violation of due process since the requirement that one collect the tax at its source was merely incidental to the taxing

power. The Court therefore reasoned the collection of corporate income taxes was not in violation of the Constitution.

The United States Supreme Court has not remained silent since the above case. In the case of *Pierce Oil Corporation v. Hopkins*, 264 U. S. 137 (1924), the Supreme Court had before it a law of the State of Arkansas requiring the seller of gasoline to collect a sales tax from the purchaser, and remit the same to state without reimbursement. There Mr. Justice Brandies, speaking for a majority of the Court, stated:

“The claim that the act violates the due process clause rests upon the argument that the tax levies is a privilege tax for the use of the highways by the purchasers; that the seller is required to pay the tax laid on the purchasers * * * the seller is not afforded the means of reimbursing himself; and that, moreover, the mere process of collecting the tax from the purchaser, and making monthly reports and payments, subjects the seller to an appreciable expense. A short answer to this argument is that the seller is directed to collect the tax from the purchaser when he makes the sale; and that a State which has, under its constitution, power to regulate the business of selling gasoline (and doubtless, also, the power to tax the privilege of carrying on that business) is not prevented by the due process clause from imposing the incidental burden.”

The federal courts have not been alone in deciding that the failure to provide for reimbursement to a private party for collecting and remitting a tax is not

violative of due process. See *Tanner v. State*, 190 So. 292 (Ala. 1939); *Woodrich v. St. Catherine Gravel Co.*, 195 So. 307 (Miss. 1940). The Colorado Supreme Court felt of a similar view in *Porter v. Armstrong*, 132 P. 2d 788 (Colo.). The Court there held that requirement that an attorney collect a professional service tax imposed on his clients and remit the same to the state did not violate the state or federal due process clauses.

The decisions of the United States Supreme Court are binding on the issue the federal due process clause, and since our own state provision on due process, Article I, Section 7, was patterned after the federal provision, decisions of the United States Supreme Court are highly persuasive as to the application of that clause of our state Constitution. *Untermeyer v. State Tax Commission*, 102 Utah 214, 129 P. 2d 881. It would appear, therefore, in the absence of some compelling reason to the contrary, that Article I, Section 7 should not be deemed to prevent the Legislature from establishing the requirements it has in Chapter 111, Laws of Utah 1959. Appellant in his brief contends that the complexities of accountings to state and federal government makes necessary the expense of employing special persons. He contends that the Supreme Court of the United States has indicated that if the burden becomes confiscatory it would be violative of due process. However, appellant makes the mistake of combining the separate actions of two distinct sovereigns, the federal and the state, to claim his burden. The only issue before this Court as to due process is whether the burden imposed by the State of Utah is so

confiscatory. It should be remembered that 1959 was the first year in which this power was used. Therefore, the state's actions at present are no more burdensome than those originally considered legal by the federal and state courts.

Appellant also claims that the burden of remitting and collecting taxes without compensation imposes an involuntary servitude. The Thirteenth Amendment to the Federal Constitution, and Section 22, Article I of our State Constitution, prohibit the imposition of slavery or involuntary servitude. These provisions are usually deemed personal, 48 C.J.S. 766; *Slaughter House Cases*, 16 Wall 36, and, therefore, it is questionable whether appellant, a municipal corporation, drawing its very life from the state, may complain of such actions or even avail itself of these constitutional provisions. Even assuming that appellant can claim these rights, the overwhelming weight of authority is to the effect that in this instance the claim is without merit.

In *State ex rel. Arn v. Tax Commission*, 163 Kan. 240, 181 P. 2d 532 (1947), the Kansas Supreme Court held a requirement imposed upon sellers of gasoline to collect a sales tax from their purchasers, which was imposed on the purchasers, and remit it to the state did not constitute an involuntary servitude. There the Kansas Court said:

“It is alleged Chapter 271 requires vendors of motor fuels to collect and to make the tax without compensation, and in doing so subjects

them to involuntary servitude, in violation of section 6 of our Bill of Rights. This section of our Bill of Rights is tantamount to the 13th amendment of our Federal constitution. Respecting that it was said, in *Butler v. Perry*, 240 U.S. 328, 332, 36 S. Ct. 258, 259 60 L. Ed. 672: 'This Amendment was adopted with reference to conditions existing since the foundation of our government, and the term "involuntary servitude" was intended to cover those forms of compulsory labor akin to African slavery which, in practical operation, would tend to produce like undesirable results. It introduced no novel doctrine with respect of services always treated as exceptional, and certainly was not intended to interdict enforcement of those duties which individuals owe to the state, such as services in the army, militia, on the jury, etc. The great purpose in view was liberty under the protection of effective government, not the destruction of the latter by depriving it of essential powers.' (Citing cases.)

"It is generally recognized that an individual may be required to give services to a state without compensation, *Crews v. Lundquist*, 361 Ill. 193, 197 N.E. 768. Indeed, it is a common practice, both for the Federal government and for the state to call upon citizens to perform some service for the state without compensation."

In *Porter v. Armstrong*, supra, the Court also rejected the issue of involuntary servitude. See also *Johnson v. Dictendorf*, 56 Idaho 620, 57 P. 2d 1068; *Morrow v. Henneford*, 182 Wash. 625, 47 P. 2d 1016; *Ranier National Park Co. v. Martin*, 18 Fed. Supp. 60.

This Court may take judicial notice of the history underlying the passage of involuntary servitude amend-

ments. It is undisputed that they principally arose to abolish slavery and to give constitutional effect to the emancipation proclamation.

Recent cases have also affirmed against the argument appellant now contends for. In *Abney v. Campbell*, 206 F. 2d 836, the issue was the uncompensated collection and remission of F.I.C.A. taxes. The Court, in rejecting the involuntary servitude issue, stated:

“The enforcement of the act is not the imposition of a servitude. It is the collection of a tax and the enforcement of an obligation which under settled Federal law appellants may be and are lawfully subjected to * * *. It cannot be a violation of the 13th Amendment.”

And in *Porth v. Brodrick*, 214 F. 2d 925 (1954) as to self employment taxes:

“Any servitude resulting from requirements of tax laws would not be the kind of involuntary servitude referred to in the Constitution.”

Most recently the almost identical issue raised by the appellant here was before the Indiana Court, and rejected. *Akers v. Handley*, 149 N.E. 2d 692 (Ind. 1958).

It is submitted that the requirements imposed upon appellant by Chapter 111, Laws of Utah 1959, are neither unusual nor severe. To allow the proposition the appellant contends for would require every action that a citizen may be required to do by a state to be compensated. The police powers, and those other powers

incidental to the proper functioning of government would be subjugated to other provisions of the Constitution which cannot be so construed, nor were so intended by their framers.

POINT II.

CHAPTER 111 OF THE LAWS OF UTAH 1959 DOES NOT VIOLATE SECTION 22, ARTICLE VI, OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

Article VI, Section 22 of the Constitution of Utah provides in part:

“The vote upon the final passage of all bills shall be by yeas and nays; and no law shall be revised or amended by reference to its title only; but the act as revised or section as amended, shall be re-enacted and published at length.”

The purpose of this constitutional provision was to make certain that the members of the Legislature had before them more than the mere title of a proposed amendment, but that they have before them the substance of the bill so that they may see in general what it purports to do. As was said in *State v. Beddo*, 22 Utah 432, 63 Pac. 96:

“This is a wise provision of the Constitution, and was intended to avoid that confusion which would inevitably follow, if an act or section could be revised or amended by mere reference to the title, or section, or word or line.”

Thus the purpose of such a provision when read in context with the other restrictions placed upon the

Legislature's procedures becomes clear. It is obvious that it was intended to make certain that the Legislature had some substantive knowledge of its action.

However, the legislation must be clearly amendatory and not additive, before constitutional provisions like ours become effective. Thus where an act is merely claimed to be amendatory and is not amendatory in form, the courts have generally classified the legislation as not being amendatory. Sutherland, *Statutory Construction*, 3rd Ed., Sec. 1917. In *Blakemore v. Dolan*, 50 Ind. 194, the Court stated:

“An act is independent when it embraces matter not previously legislated upon; or it may be independent where there is a law upon the subject, when the act does not attempt to amend such law, but makes a new enactment.”

This same doctrine has been adopted by the Utah Supreme Court. In *State ex rel. Cluff v. Weber County Irr. Dist.*, 62 Utah 209, 218 Pac. 732 (1923), the following language was used to express the principle:

“True, it may be that some of the provisions of Chapter 68 may in practice be found to affect or modify other provisions relating to irrigation or water rights. That, however, is not what the Constitution forbids. Later laws are frequently enacted which in some way modify or affect earlier laws relating to the same subject matter. That such is the effect of later enactments is inevitable, and in no way contravenes the constitutional provision that laws shall be amended only in a particular way. That provision has reference

only to direct amendments, and not to conflicting provisions of separate and independent acts.”

In the instant case it is clear that Chapter 111, Laws of Utah 1959 was in reality not an amendatory act, but an act adding to the body of Utah law dealing with withholding taxes. An examination of the status of the law shows that in 1957 there was an act providing for withholding from non-resident employees. Chapter 124, Laws of Utah 1957. Chapter 111, Laws of Utah 1959 did not change the provisions of the 1957 law except to add to its coverage provisions for resident employees who were not covered under the original act. The changes that resulted to non-resident employees were as a result of making the law uniform as to all employees. Any changes affecting the 1957 act were set out in length, but even so Chapter 111 was not amendatory but additive, and only incidentally affected the situation as it applied to non-residents. Therefore, it is submitted that under the doctrine set out by the Court in the case of *State ex rel. Cluff v. Weber County Irr. Dist.*, supra, considering that Chapter 111, Laws of Utah 1959 only incidentally affects non-resident employees, either under the 1957 law or in relation to Chapter 112, Laws of Utah 1959, and that it did not amend but added to the law at that time, Article VI, Section 22 has not been violated.

Appellant contends in his brief that since Chapter 112, Laws of Utah 1959 was signed by the Governor, before the provisions of Chapter 111, that the failure of Chapter 111 to include provisions of Chapter 112 violated the constitutional requirement of amendment

at length. Although it has already been concluded that Chapter 111 was not amendatory, it is submitted that an additional reason exists why the failure of Chapter 111 to include the provisions of Chapter 112 is not violative of Article VI, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution.

Article VI, Section 25 of the Utah Constitution provides:

“All acts shall be officially published, and *no act shall take effect until so published, nor until sixty days after the adjournment of the session at which it passed*, unless the Legislature by a vote of two-thirds of all the members elected to each house, shall otherwise direct.”

Both Chapters 111 and 112 of the Laws of Utah 1959 came into effect at the same time, that is, on 12 May 1960. Therefore, it is submitted that since Chapter 112 did not become effective until the same day as did Chapter 111, there could be no requirement that Chapter 111 have included within its terms any of the matter contained in Chapter 112. Especially is this so since House Bill 93 which became Chapter 111 had been passed by one of the houses before Senate Bill 58, which became Chapter 112, had been signed by the Governor. If it is contended that acts submitted in the same session which cover related subjects must include each other, the confusion would be manifest. If one bill were vetoed or not passed the other bill containing the same matter would also of necessity have to be dealt with in the same manner. The only thing which would correct such a situation would be an item veto which the Governor of this state does not possess. In addition, such a construction of

Article VI, Section 22, would do violence to the very meaning of Article VI, Section 25, and certainly it is hornbook law that constitutional provisions should be construed as far as possible to make them harmonious and compatible. As was said in *Shook v. Laufer*, 100 S.W. 1042 (Tex. 1907) where it was contended an act of the Legislature should be given effect prior to the time set out in the constitutional provision:

“We also are of the opinion, * * * that if it was the intention of the legislature to make the provision under consideration refer to the date of the passage of the act, it would be an attempt to make the law partially operative sooner than permitted by the state Constitution, and would bring it in conflict with the provision of that instrument which prohibits acts passed in the manner this was from taking effect earlier than ninety days after adjournment of the session of the legislature.”

The Utah Supreme Court has itself indicated a position similar to that we now advocate. In *Hansen v. Morris*, 3 U. 2d 310, 283 P. 2d 884 (1955), in response to a claim that one law repealed another, where they become effective the same day, the Court said:

“The contention that (3) the limitations statute, Chapter 19, Laws of Utah 1951, was repealed by Chapter 58, same laws, seems without merit. Both were passed the same day and became effective on the same day.”

Certainly if two laws which become effective the same day cannot be said to repeal each other, so laws

which become effective the same day cannot be said to amend each other, especially where there is no basic conflict between the two, and where they are compatible in dealing with different areas of the same general subject.

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